
 

 

 

1 

 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

DANIEL DELANGE, on behalf of himself 

and all others similarly situated 

 

 Plaintiffs,  

 

  v. 

 

ATLANTIC INTERTECH LLC D/B/A 

DEEP SIX CBD ONLINE EDIBLES & 

OILS, 

 

 Defendant.                                 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

 

 

 

 

JURY DEMANDED 

 

Civil Action No.:  ______________ 

 

 

 

 

COLLECTIVE AND CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff, Daniel DeLange (hereinafter “Plaintiff”), brings this class action on behalf of 

himself and putative classes of similarly situated persons against Defendant, Atlantic Intertech 

LLC d/b/a Deep Six CBD Online Edibles & Oils (hereinafter “Defendant”), for violations of the 

Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq., the Pennsylvania Wage Payment 

and Collection Law (“WPCL”), 43 P.S. § 260.1, et seq., and the Pennsylvania Minimum Wage 

Act of 1968 (“PMWA”), 43 P.S. 333.101, et seq. Plaintiff asserts his FLSA claim as a collective 

action under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and asserts his WPCL and PMWA claims as a class action under 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.  In support thereof, Plaintiff avers as follows: 

PARTIES AND JURISDICTION 

1. Defendant employed Plaintiff at its King of Prussia, Pennsylvania, location. Mr. 

DeLange resides in Royersford, Pennsylvania.  
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2. While employed by Defendant, Plaintiff qualified as an employee under the 

FLSA, the WPCL, and the PMWA. 

3. The Defendant is a foreign limited liability company formed and organized in the 

state of Delaware, but operating from a headquarters located at160 N Gulph Road, King of 

Prussia, Pennsylvania. At all times, Defendant qualifies as an employer under the FLSA, the 

WPCL, and the PMWA. 

4. The Court may exercise original subject matter jurisdiction over the instant action 

under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(4) because it arises under the laws of the United States and 

seeks redress for violations of federal law.  

5. The Court may also maintain supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims set 

forth herein under 28 U.S.C. § l367(a) and Rule 18(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

because these causes of action are sufficiently related to one or more claims within the Court’s 

original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy. 

6. Plaintiff properly laid the venue for this Complaint in the Eastern District of 

Pennsylvania under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)(l) and 139l(b)(2) because Defendant operates  its 

headquarters within this judicial district and because the majority of the acts and omissions 

giving rise to the claims set forth herein occurred in this judicial district. Also, during the entire 

period of his employment with Defendant, Plaintiff worked within this district. 
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FACTS 

7. Defendant is a retailer of Cannabidiol (“CBD”) products at multiple outlets 

throughout Pennsylvania.  

8. Defendant employed Plaintiff for various periods from June 26, 2017, to January 

13, 2020. Initially, Defendant paid Plaintiff an hourly wage of approximately $12.00 plus 

commission. His final hourly rate of pay was $13.00 plus commission. During his employment, 

Defendant paid de minims or trivial commissions to Plaintiff. At the time of his termination, 

Defendant had incorrectly classified Plaintiff as a “manager” in that he rarely, if ever, acted as a 

manager or supervisor, and his rate of pay fell below the threshold for exempt employee status. 

Throughout his employment, Defendant failed to compensate plaintiff for indispensable work 

performed before clocking in and after clocking out. 

9. At the beginning of each shift, Plaintiff and other employees would arrive before 

the store opened at 10 a.m. and they would also stay past 9 p.m. when the store closed.  

10. Plaintiff and other employees were not compensated for the extra time they 

worked in the morning before the store opened or at night when the store was closed.  

11. Initially, Plaintiff would stay an average three to four hours extra every week 

either opening or closing the store, and then later the hours increased to about five to seven hours 

extra a week.  

12. Plaintiff complained to Defendant’s managers about working extra hours without 

overtime pay and was rebuffed.  
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13. A week before Defendant terminated Plaintiff, Mr. DeLange again complained 

about the unpaid overtime to the company owner.  

14. All told, over the course of his employment, Defendant failed to pay Plaintiff for 

approximately six hundred hours of overtime. Defendant also failed to pay other employees for 

similar amounts of overtime. 

COLLECTIVE AND CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

15. Plaintiff brings his FLSA claim under 29 U.S.C. §216(b) on behalf of: 

All individuals, who, during any time within the 

past three years, have been employed by 

Defendant in Pennsylvania and who worked more 

than forty hours per week and were not paid 

overtime for the hours in excess of forty.  

16. Plaintiff’s FLSA claim should proceed as a collective action because Plaintiff and 

other putative collective members, having worked under the common compensation policies 

described herein, are “similarly situated” as that term as is defined in 29 U.S.C. §216(b).  

17. In addition to the FLSA collective action, Plaintiff also brings his PWCL and 

PMWA claims for the same class as defined above but as a class action under Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 23. 
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18. The class action requisites outlined in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 are 

satisfied and, therefore, class action treatment of Plaintiff’s PWCL and PMWA claims is 

appropriate, as noted below: 

a. Upon information and belief, the class includes over 50 individuals, all of whom 

are readily ascertainable based on Defendant’s payroll records and are so 

numerous that joinder of all class members is impracticable. 

b. Defendant’s conduct concerning the class members raises questions of law and 

fact that are common to all class members. Common factual questions include, 

among other things, timekeeping and compensation practices and policies 

described herein. The Court may determine the legality of these policies and 

practices through the application of general legal principles to common facts. 

c. Plaintiff is a class member, his claims are typical of the claims of other class 

members, and Defendant’s corresponding defenses are typical of the claims or 

defenses applicable to the class members because, among other things, and all 

claims arise from on the same legal theories and remedies. Further, the allegations 

made by Plaintiff—namely, that Defendant violated the PWCL and the PMWA’s 

compensation provisions by failing to compensate them for all legally 

compensable time—align sufficiently with the interests of other class members so 

that Plaintiffs’ pursuit of their interests will benefit all class members. 

 

Case 2:20-cv-03624   Document 1   Filed 07/24/20   Page 5 of 10



 

 

 

6 

 
 

19. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately assert and protect the interests of all 

class members because among other things: 

a. Plaintiff is represented by experienced counsel who is well-prepared to vigorously 

and competently litigate this action on behalf of the class members;  

b. Plaintiff and his counsel are free of any conflicts of interest that prevent them 

from pursuing this action on behalf of the class members; and,  

c. The Class members’ interests will not be harmed because counsel for Plaintiff has 

adequate financial resources to prosecute this litigation properly. 

20. Class certification is appropriate under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3) 

because common questions of law and fact predominate over questions affecting only individual 

class members and because a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of this litigation. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

 

COUNT I 

Violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) 

29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq. 

 

21. Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if set forth more fully at length 

herein. 

22. The FLSA requires that employees receive overtime compensation calculated at 

150% of their regular pay rate for hours worked over 40 hours per week. 
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23. Defendant violated the FLSA by failing to compensate Plaintiff and the collective 

class for all hours worked over forty hours per week. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks the damages outlined in the Request for Relief clause of 

this Complaint, infra. 

COUNT II 

Violations of Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Collection Law (“WPCL”) 

43 P.S. 260.1, et seq. 

 

24. Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if set forth more fully at length 

herein.  

25. At all times relevant, Plaintiff and the class members are employees entitled to the 

protections under the WPCL. 

26. At all times relevant, Defendant is an employer covered by the WPCL. 

27. The WPCL requires that employees receive overtime compensation where that is 

otherwise required by state and federal law. Defendant violated the WPCL by failing to 

compensate Plaintiff and the class for all hours worked over forty hours per week. 

28. Plaintiff and the class members are entitled to unpaid wages under the WPCL. 

29. The WPCL provides that “[e]very employer shall pay all wages, other than fringe 

benefits and wage supplements, due to his employees on regular paydays designated in advance 

by the employer.” 43 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 260.3(a). 

30. The WPCL confers onto employees the ability to institute legal actions to collect 

wages payable to them by employers. § 260.9a. 
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31. Defendant’s failure to pay Plaintiff and the class members earned wages violates 

the WPCL. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks the damages outlined in the Request for Relief clause of 

this Complaint, infra. 

COUNT III 

Violations of the Pennsylvania Minimum Wage Act of 1968 (“PMWA”) 

43 P.S. §§ 333.101, et seq. 

 

32. Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if set forth more fully at length 

herein.  

33. At all times relevant, Plaintiff and the class members are employees entitled to the 

protections under the PMWA. 

34. At all times relevant, Defendant is an employer covered by the PMWA. 

35. The PMWA entitles employees to compensation for “all hours worked” in a 

workweek. See 43 P.S. § 333.104(a). 

36. The PMWA requires that employees receive overtime compensation “not less 

than one and one-half times” the employee’s regular rate of pay for all hours worked over 40 in a 

workweek. See 43 P.S. § 333.104(c). 

37. Defendant has violated the PMWA by failing to compensate Plaintiff and other 

class members for all hours worked both before and during their work shifts. Accordingly, 

during weeks in which Plaintiff’s and the class members’ combined paid and unpaid 

compensable time exceeds forty (40) hours, Plaintiff and the class members are entitled to (i) 

compensation at their regular pay rate for uncompensated hours worked under forty (40) hours; 
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and (ii) compensation at their overtime premium pay rate for uncompensated hours worked over 

forty (40) hours. 

38. In violating the PMWA, Defendant acted willfully and with reckless disregard of 

clearly applicable PMWA provisions and willfully violated the PMWA. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks the damages outlined in the Request for Relief clause of 

this Complaint, infra. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 Plaintiff, Daniel DeLange, on behalf of himself and other members of the 

class/collective, seek the following relief: 

A. Orders permitting this action to proceed as a collective and class action, and 

undersigned counsel as class counsel; 

B. Unpaid wages (including overtime wages); 

C. Prejudgment interest; 

D. Liquidated damages and penalties; 

E. Litigation costs, expenses, and attorney’s fees; and 

F. Such other relief as this Court deems just and proper; 
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JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury as to all issues. 

 

 

Date: July 24, 2020      RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

 

      LAW OFFICES OF ERIC A. SHORE, P.C. 

 

      /s/ Scott K. Johnson     
SCOTT K. JOHNSON (Pa. Id. No. 85024) 

Two Penn Center, Suite 1240 

1500 John F. Kennedy Blvd. 

Philadelphia, PA 19102 

Tel.: (267) 546-0124 

Fax: (215) 944-6124 
Email: scottj@ericshore.com  

Attorney for Plaintiff  Daniel DeLange 

. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

CASE MANAGEMENT TRACK DESIGNATION FORM

: CIVIL ACTION
:

v. :
:
: NO.

In accordance with the Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan of this court, counsel for
plaintiff shall complete a Case Management Track Designation Form in all civil cases at the time of
filing the complaint and serve a copy on all defendants. (See § 1:03 of the plan set forth on the reverse
side of this form.) In the event that a defendant does not agree with the plaintiff regarding said
designation, that defendant shall, with its first appearance, submit to the clerk of court and serve on
the plaintiff and all other parties, a Case Management Track Designation Form specifying the track
to which that defendant believes the case should be assigned.

SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING CASE MANAGEMENT TRACKS:

(a) Habeas Corpus – Cases brought under 28 U.S.C. § 2241 through § 2255. ( )

(b) Social Security – Cases requesting review of a decision of the Secretary of Health
and Human Services denying plaintiff Social Security Benefits. ( )

(c) Arbitration – Cases required to be designated for arbitration under Local Civil Rule 53.2. ( )

(d) Asbestos – Cases involving claims for personal injury or property damage from
exposure to asbestos. ( )

(e) Special Management – Cases that do not fall into tracks (a) through (d) that are
commonly referred to as complex and that need special or intense management by
the court. (See reverse side of this form for a detailed explanation of special
management cases.) ( )

(f) Standard Management – Cases that do not fall into any one of the other tracks. ( )

Date Attorney-at-law Attorney for

Telephone FAX Number E-Mail Address

(Civ. 660) 10/02
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Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan
Section 1:03 - Assignment to a Management Track

(a) The clerk of court will assign cases to tracks (a) through (d) based on the initial pleading.

(b) In all cases not appropriate for assignment by the clerk of court to tracks (a) through (d), the
plaintiff shall submit to the clerk of court and serve with the complaint on all defendants a case management
track designation form specifying that the plaintiff believes the case requires Standard Management or
Special Management. In the event that a defendant does not agree with the plaintiff regarding said
designation, that defendant shall, with its first appearance, submit to the clerk of court and serve on the
plaintiff and all other parties, a case management track designation form specifying the track to which that
defendant believes the case should be assigned.

(c) The court may, on its own initiative or upon the request of any party, change the track
assignment of any case at any time.

(d) Nothing in this Plan is intended to abrogate or limit a judicial officer's authority in any case
pending before that judicial officer, to direct pretrial and trial proceedings that are more stringent than those
of the Plan and that are designed to accomplish cost and delay reduction.

(e) Nothing in this Plan is intended to supersede Local Civil Rules 40.1 and 72.1, or the
procedure for random assignment of Habeas Corpus and Social Security cases referred to magistrate judges
of the court.

SPECIAL MANAGEMENT CASE ASSIGNMENTS
(See §1.02 (e) Management Track Definitions of the

Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan)

Special Management cases will usually include that class of cases commonly referred to as "complex
litigation" as that term has been used in the Manuals for Complex Litigation. The first manual was prepared
in 1969 and the Manual for Complex Litigation Second, MCL 2d was prepared in 1985. This term is
intended to include cases that present unusual problems and require extraordinary treatment. See §0.1 of the
first manual. Cases may require special or intense management by the court due to one or more of the
following factors: (1) large number of parties; (2) large number of claims or defenses; (3) complex factual
issues; (4) large volume of evidence; (5) problems locating or preserving evidence; (6) extensive discovery;
(7) exceptionally long time needed to prepare for disposition; (8) decision needed within an exceptionally
short time; and (9) need to decide preliminary issues before final disposition. It may include two or more
related cases. Complex litigation typically includes such cases as antitrust cases; cases involving a large
number of parties or an unincorporated association of large membership; cases involving requests for
injunctive relief affecting the operation of large business entities; patent cases; copyright and trademark
cases; common disaster cases such as those arising from aircraft crashes or marine disasters; actions brought
by individual stockholders; stockholder's derivative and stockholder's representative actions; class actions or
potential class actions; and other civil (and criminal) cases involving unusual multiplicity or complexity of
factual issues. See §0.22 of the first Manual for Complex Litigation and Manual for Complex Litigation
Second, Chapter 33.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

DESIGNATION FORM 
(to be used by counsel or pro se plaintiff to indicate the category of the case for the purpose of assignment to the appropriate calendar) 

Address of Plaintiff: ______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Address of Defendant: ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Place of Accident, Incident or Transaction: ___________________________________________________________________________ 

RELATED CASE, IF ANY: 

Case Number: ______________________________     Judge: _________________________________     Date Terminated: ______________________ 

Civil cases are deemed related when Yes is answered to any of the following questions: 

1. Is this case related to property included in an earlier numbered suit pending or within one year Yes No 
previously terminated action in this court?

2. Does this case involve the same issue of fact or grow out of the same transaction as a prior suit Yes No 
pending or within one year previously terminated action in this court?

3. Does this case involve the validity or infringement of a patent already in suit or any earlier Yes No 
numbered case pending or within one year previously terminated action of this court?

4. Is this case a second or successive habeas corpus, social security appeal, or pro se civil rights Yes No 
case filed by the same individual?

I certify that, to my knowledge, the within case    is  /   is not   related to any case now pending or within one year previously terminated action in 
this court except as noted above. 

DATE: __________________________________     __________________________________________     ___________________________________ 
   Attorney-at-Law / Pro Se Plaintiff                   Attorney I.D. # (if applicable) 

CIVIL: (Place a √ in one category only) 

A. Federal Question Cases: 

 1.  Indemnity Contract, Marine Contract, and All Other Contracts
 2. FELA
 3. Jones Act-Personal Injury
 4. Antitrust
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 6. Labor-Management Relations
 7. Civil Rights
 8. Habeas Corpus
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B. Diversity Jurisdiction Cases: 
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 9. All other Diversity Cases

(Please specify): ____________________________________________ 

ARBITRATION CERTIFICATION  
(The effect of this certification is to remove the case from eligibility for arbitration.) 

I, ____________________________________________, counsel of record or pro se plaintiff, do hereby certify: 

 Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 53.2, § 3(c) (2), that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the damages recoverable in this civil action case
exceed the sum of $150,000.00 exclusive of interest and costs:

 Relief other than monetary damages is sought.

DATE: __________________________________     __________________________________________     ___________________________________ 
   Attorney-at-Law / Pro Se Plaintiff                  Attorney I.D. # (if applicable) 

NOTE: A trial de novo will be a trial by jury only if there has been compliance with F.R.C.P. 38. 

 Civ. 609 (5/2018) 

Must sign here

Sign here if applicable 

Case 2:20-cv-03624   Document 1-3   Filed 07/24/20   Page 1 of 1

337 Summer Street Royersford, PA 19468

160 N Gulph Road, King of Prussia, PA 19406

160 N Gulph Road, King of Prussia, PA 19406

●

07/24/2020 PA 85024

FLSA -- 29 USC Section 201

SCOTT K. JOHNSON 

07/24/2020 85024

✔

✔



ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: CDB Retailer Deep Six Owes Penn. Workers Unpaid Overtime Wages, Lawsuit Alleges

https://www.classaction.org/news/cdb-retailer-deep-six-owes-penn-workers-unpaid-overtime-wages-lawsuit-alleges



